

NASBA

BYLAWS

Amended October 31, 2018

Effective November 1, 2018

CONTENTS

Article I. Name	1
Article II. Purpose	1
Article III. Membership	1
Section 3.1. Member Boards	1
Section 3.2. Delegates	1
Section 3.3. Associates	1
Article IV. Board of Directors and Officers	2
Section 4.1. Board of Directors	2
Section 4.2. Composition of Board of Directors	2
Section 4.3. Officers and Duties	2
4.3.1 Chair	2
4.3.2 Vice Chair	2
4.3.3 Secretary	2
4.3.4 Treasurer	3
4.3.5 Regional Directors	3
4.3.6 Past Chair	3
Section 4.4. President	3
Section 4.5. Qualifications, Terms and Limitations of Office	3
Section 4.6. Vacancies	4
Section 4.7. Regular Meetings of the Board of Directors	4
Section 4.8. Special Meetings of the Board of Directors	4
Section 4.9. Notice and Waiver	4
Section 4.10. Quorum	5
Section 4.11. Telephone Meetings	5
Section 4.12. Mail, E-Mail, or Facsimile Ballot	5
Section 4.13. Resignation or Removal	5
Article V. Regions	6
Section 5.1. Purpose and Composition	6
Section 5.2. Representation	6
Section 5.3. Regional Meetings	6
Article VI. Meetings of the Association and Voting	6
Section 6.1. Annual Meeting	6
Section 6.2. Special Meetings	6
Section 6.3. Notice and Waiver	6
Section 6.4. Quorum	7
Section 6.5. Advisory Vote on Matters Related to Member Boards' Regulatory Responsibilities	7
Section 6.6. Voting	7
Section 6.7. Ballot Voting	7
Section 6.8. Rules of Order	8

CONTENTS, continued

Article VII. Nomination and Elections	8
Section 7.1. Nominating Committee Composition and Election	8
Section 7.2 Responsibilities of Nominating Committee	9
7.2.1 Obligation to Attend Nominating Committee Meetings in Person	9
7.2.2 Annual Nominations	9
7.2.3 Special Nomination for Vacancy of Vice Chair Position	9
Section 7.3. Nominations and Election Process	10
Article VIII. Committees, Task Forces and Boards	10
Section 8.1. Standing Committees	10
Section 8.2. Executive Committee	11
Section 8.3. Nominating Committee	11
Section 8.4. Administration and Finance Committee	11
Section 8.5. Audit Committee	11
Section 8.6. CPA Examination Review Board	11
Section 8.7. Other Committees and Task Forces	12
Section 8.8. Executive Directors Committee	12
Article IX. Finances	11
Section 9.1. Fiscal Year	11
Section 9.2. Dues	11
Section 9.3. Other Fees	12
Section 9.4. Audit	12
Section 9.5. Contracts	12
Section 9.6. Checks, Drafts, etc.	13
Section 9.7. Indemnification	13
Section 9.8. Insurance	13
Section 9.9. Dissolution	13
Article X. Amendments	13

NASBA Bylaws

(As Amended at the 2018 NASBA Annual Business Meeting)

ARTICLE I – Name

The name of this organization shall be the National Association of State Boards of Accountancy, Inc. (hereinafter, the “Association”). The location of the Association’s principal office shall be within the continental United States as the Board of Directors shall determine.

ARTICLE II – Purpose

The purpose of the Association shall be to provide an organization to protect, promote, foster and advance the common interests and welfare of boards of accountancy of the various states of the United States, its territories and the District of Columbia. The Association shall provide a forum for the exchange of information and obtaining assistance in discharging such boards’ responsibilities for the administration of public accountancy laws and for the protection of the public interest as it is affected by the practice of public accountancy. The Association shall also promote the general welfare of its members for the accomplishment of the objectives herein above set forth. The Association shall not be organized for profit or organized to engage in a regular business of a kind ordinarily carried on for profit or carry on any activities which are inconsistent with the exempt status of organizations described in Section 501(c)(6) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the corresponding provision of any successor law.

ARTICLE III – Membership

3.1 Member Boards.

3.1.1 The members of the Association shall be the boards, departments or instrumentalities confirmed by the Board of Directors as legally constituted by their respective states, territories and the District of Columbia of the United States of America to pass on the qualifications of, or to examine applicants for certification or licensure as, certified public accountants or similar licensed categories, or to regulate the practice of public accountancy within their jurisdiction.

3.1.2 Hereinafter the members of the Association shall be referred to as the “Member Boards.” In a jurisdiction where there is more than one board, department or instrumentality as defined above, they collectively shall constitute a single Member Board under the provisions of these bylaws.

3.2 Delegates.

All duly appointed or elected individuals who are members of the Member Boards as determined by the respective Member Board’s laws shall be Delegates of the Association. Delegates shall have the privilege of the floor and may propose motions, resolutions or other actions at all meetings of the Association and shall be eligible for service as Officers, Directors and members of committees of the Association.

3.3 Associates.

All former Delegates or persons who have been members of Member Boards shall be deemed Associates of the Association provided that their dues, established in accordance with these bylaws, have been paid in full for the current fiscal year. Associate Dues will not be assessed for past NASBA Chairs and currently serving members of the Board of Directors. Associates shall have the privilege of the floor and may propose motions, resolutions

or other actions at all meetings of the Association and shall be eligible for service as Officers, Directors and members of committees within the limitations established by these bylaws.

ARTICLE IV - Board of Directors and Officers

4.1 Board of Directors.

The business and affairs of the Association shall be under the direction of a Board of Directors.

4.2 Composition of Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors shall be composed of a Chair, Vice Chair, Past Chair, nine Directors-at-Large and a Regional Director from each Region established in accordance with the provisions of Article V of these bylaws. The Board of Directors shall also include the President and Chair of the Executive Directors Committee as *ex officio* non-voting members as provided in Sections 4.4 and 8.8, respectively.

4.3 Officers and Duties.

The Officers of the Board of Directors shall be a Chair, Vice Chair, Past Chair, Secretary and Treasurer. The Officers of the Board of Directors shall have the duties set forth herein. The duties of Directors shall be such as usually are attached to such offices and such other duties consistent with the provisions of these bylaws, resolutions or actions of the Member Boards at the Annual Meeting or any special meeting, or as may be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors. All members of the Board of Directors must meet the fiduciary duties of careful and prudent judgment, adherence to organizational purpose and rules, and avoidance of conflicts of interest. Neither Officers of the Board of Directors nor Directors shall receive compensation for their services to the Association.

4.3.1 Chair.

The Chair, when present, shall preside at all meetings in accordance with the latest edition of *Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised*, interpret these bylaws, appoint all committees that will be active during his or her tenure as Chair, and serve as an *ex officio* non-voting member of all committees except the Nominating Committee. The Chair may also designate the Vice Chair to serve as an *ex officio* non-voting member of any standing or non-standing committee other than the Nominating Committee or the CPA Examination Review Committee.

4.3.2 Vice Chair.

The Vice Chair shall, in the absence of the Chair, exercise the duties of and possess all the powers of the Chair. The Vice Chair shall also serve as a member of the Administration and Finance Committee. The Vice Chair may also be designated by the Chair as an *ex officio* non-voting member of any other standing and non-standing Committee other than the Nominating Committee or the CPA Examination Review Committee.

4.3.3 Secretary.

The Secretary shall be elected by the Board of Directors from the Directors-at-Large as soon as practicable following the installation of the new Board of Directors at the Annual Meeting. The Secretary shall perform the duties usual and incidental to the office that are required to be performed by law, and shall be responsible for the minutes of the Board of Directors. The Secretary may delegate to the President and other staff the actual

performance of any or all of the office's appropriate duties and authorize the President or staff to sign under their respective titles the correspondence conducted by them.

4.3.4 Treasurer.

The Treasurer shall be elected by the Board of Directors from the Directors-at-Large as soon as practicable following the installation of the new Board of Directors at the Annual Meeting. The Treasurer shall be responsible for the activities of the Administration and Finance Committee, and shall serve as its chair.

4.3.5 Regional Directors.

Regional Directors shall be elected as provided in Article VII, and shall be responsible for communications with the Boards of Accountancy in the Regions which they represent and for presiding over Regional Meetings.

4.3.6 Past Chair.

The Past Chair shall serve as chair of the Nominating Committee in accordance with Article VII of these bylaws.

4.4 President.

A President shall be appointed by the Board of Directors and shall serve as the Chief Executive Officer of the Association. The President shall manage the affairs of the Association and have such duties and responsibilities as the Board of Directors shall determine. The President shall be salaried and shall report directly to the Chair who, with the consent and approval of the Executive Committee of the Board of Directors, will assign duties and powers in his or her areas of responsibility. The President shall employ and terminate staff, enter into routine contracts, and obtain legal consultation. The President shall also serve without additional compensation, in such other capacity relating to the business of the Association to which he or she may be elected or appointed by the Executive Committee of the Board of Directors. The President may be removed with or without cause by a resolution of the Board of Directors. The President shall serve as an *ex officio* non-voting member of the Board of Directors and shall not be counted in determining the total number of authorized Directors. The President shall be granted the privilege of the floor at all meetings of the Association and the Board of Directors.

4.5 Qualification, Terms and Limitations of Office.

4.5.1 The Vice Chair and Directors shall be elected in accordance with these bylaws during the Business Session at Annual Meeting of the Association. The Vice Chair shall serve as such from the adjournment of the Business Session at the Annual Meeting at which he or she is so elected until the adjournment of the Business Session at the next following Annual Meeting, at which time he or she shall become Chair and shall serve as such until the adjournment of the Business Session at the next following Annual Business Meeting, at which time he or she shall become Past Chair and shall serve as a Director of the Association in accordance with the provisions of Section 4.2 of these bylaws.

4.5.2 No incumbent shall be elected to succeed himself or herself in the offices of Chair or Vice Chair.

4.5.3 No Past Chair shall be eligible to be re-elected as an Officer or Director.

4.5.4 Beginning with the 2016 Annual Business Meeting, Directors-at-Large shall be elected for three-year terms and may serve a maximum of two complete terms.

4.5.5 Regional Directors shall be elected for one-year terms and may serve a maximum of three complete terms.

4.5.6 A person who has succeeded, acceded to, or been appointed to fill a vacancy (serve an unexpired term) shall not have that service counted in the limitation of terms that can be served, provided that in no event shall an individual be eligible for election or appointment to fill an unexpired term if the individual has already served two complete terms as a Director-at-Large. No individual shall be eligible for appointment to the Board of Directors to fill more than one unexpired term.

4.5.7 All members of the Board of Directors shall be Delegates or Associates. A simple majority of all members of the Board of Directors shall be Delegates at the time of or within six months of the Annual Business Meeting at which they are elected to their current office on the Board. For purposes of this section, the Immediate Past Chair shall be a delegate or associate but shall not be included in calculation of a majority.

4.5.8 All Regional Directors shall be Delegates at the time of or within six months prior to their election or appointment.

4.5.9 To be eligible to serve as Vice Chair, an individual must have served as a Director-at-Large or Regional Director for a minimum of two years, but need not be a current member of the Board of Directors at the time of his or her election.

4.6 Vacancies.

4.6.1 A vacancy in the Chair position shall be filled by the Vice Chair.

4.6.2 A vacancy in the Vice Chair position shall be filled pursuant to Section 7.2.3. If necessary, the Chair shall continue to serve until this process is complete.

4.6.3 A vacancy in the Past Chair position shall not be filled until after the end of the current Chair's term.

4.6.4 All other vacancies on the Board of Directors shall be filled by the Board of Directors, and all such appointees shall serve the unexpired term of their predecessors in office.

4.7 Regular Meetings of the Board of Directors.

Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held prior to the Annual Meeting of the Association and at such other times as the Board of Directors may designate.

4.8 Special Meetings of the Board of Directors.

The Chair may call special meetings of the Board of Directors at such time and place as he or she shall determine. Alternatively, the Chair shall call such special meetings at such time and place as may be designated in a written request of five or more members of the Board of Directors.

4.9 Notice and Waiver.

4.9.1 Notice of any regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors shall be sent by mail, e-mail, facsimile, telephone or shall be delivered personally or by other appropriate means to each Member Board and to each member of the Board of Directors, at his or her mailing address, as shown in the official records of the

Association, at least 21 days before such meeting if notified by mail, or five days if notified by other methods. Such notice, as far as practicable, shall contain a statement of the agenda for such meeting.

4.9.2 Meetings held and actions taken without notice as provided in these bylaws shall be valid if each member of the Board of Directors entitled to notice: (1) attends the meeting without protesting lack of notice either before or when such meeting convenes; or (2) signs a written waiver of notice or a written consent to holding the meeting or an approval of the minutes of the meeting, either before or after the meeting; and (3) such written consents or approvals are filed with the records of the meeting.

4.10 Quorum.

A majority of the Board of Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors. If a majority of Directors are not present at any meeting of the Board of Directors, the majority of the Directors present may adjourn the meeting to a stated time and place without further notice. The vote of a majority of Directors present and voting at any meeting at which there is a quorum shall be an act of the Board of Directors.

4.11 Telephone Meetings.

The Board of Directors or any committee of the Board of Directors may conduct its meetings by means of conference telephone or similar communications equipment provided that all persons participating in the meeting can communicate with one another, and participation in such a meeting shall constitute presence in person at such meeting.

4.12 Mail, E-mail, or Facsimile Ballot.

The Chair may submit any action to the Board of Directors for vote by mail, e-mail, facsimile ballot or other appropriate means, provided the subject matter has been previously reviewed and discussed by the Board of Directors. Only ballots returned in the prescribed time will be counted. Any action approved by a majority of the Board of Directors shall be an act of the Board of Directors and shall be recorded in the minutes of the Board of Directors.

4.13 Resignation or Removal.

4.13.1 Resignation. Any Officer or Director may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Chair, the Secretary or the full Board of Directors. Such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein or, if no time is specified, at the time of acceptance by the Chair, Secretary or Board of Directors.

4.13.2 Removal for Failure to Attend. As a condition for election and service, any Officer or Director who shall fail to attend two consecutive regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be automatically removed from the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may waive such automatic removal if it shall by majority vote determine that such failure to attend was caused by sufficient circumstances to excuse such absence. The position of Officer or Director removed under this provision shall be filled in accordance with Section 4.6 of this Article.

4.13.3 Removal for Other Cause. Any Officer or Director may be removed for any cause deemed sufficient as provided under Delaware law.

ARTICLE V - Regions

5.1 Purpose and Composition.

In order to establish closer communications between the Board of Directors and the Member Boards, as well as between Member Boards within geographical areas, and to assist the Association in achieving its stated purpose, all of the states, territories and the District of Columbia shall be divided into at least five, but not more than nine, geographical Regions. The names, number and composition of Regions shall be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors.

5.2 Representation.

A Regional Director shall be nominated and elected in accordance with Article VII of these bylaws to serve terms as provided in Section 4.5.5 to represent the Board of Directors within each Region and to perform such other duties as may be designated by the Board of Directors. Each Region shall, in accordance with Article VII, elect one Delegate or Associate as a member of the Nominating Committee to represent in person their Region on the Nominating Committee and one Delegate or Associate as an alternate to participate in person in the event that the member cannot attend the meeting.

5.3 Regional Meetings.

Each Region shall hold an Annual Regional Meeting not less than 60 days prior to the Association's Annual Meeting, at a time and place to be determined by the Board of Directors. The purposes of the Annual Regional Meeting are to facilitate communications, elect the members and alternates of the Nominating Committee pursuant to Article VII and to transact other business. Pursuant to Section 4.3.5, the Regional Director shall preside over a Regional Meeting. Unless the Regional Director is the Designated Voting Representative of a Member Board as described in Section 6.6.1 and 6.6.2, the Regional Director shall not have a vote at the Regional Meeting. In the event the Regional Director is unable to preside, the NASBA Chair shall designate a Delegate or Associate to preside.

ARTICLE VI - Meetings of the Association and Voting

6.1 Annual Meeting.

The Association shall hold an Annual Meeting at a time and place to be determined by the Board of Directors of the Association. The purposes of the Annual Meeting are to facilitate communications, elect the Vice Chair and Directors and to transact other business.

6.2 Special Meetings.

The Chair shall call special meetings of the Association when requested to do so by the Board of Directors or by at least one-third of the Member Boards on written application to the Chair, signed by the individual designated as the Presiding Officer of each of the said one-third of the Member Boards. Special meetings of the Association shall be held at such times and places as shall be designated by the Board of Directors.

6.3 Notice and Waiver.

6.3.1 Notice of each meeting of the Association or Regions shall be sent to each Member Board and to each Delegate and Associate at the mailing address shown in the official records of the Association at least 60 days

before such meeting. Such notice, as far as practicable, shall contain a statement of the general business to be transacted. Notice of the Annual Meeting shall contain the report of the Nominating Committee as provided in Section 7.3.1.

6.3.2 Meetings held and actions taken without notice as provided in these bylaws shall be valid if each Member Board entitled to notice: (1) attends the meeting without protesting lack of notice either before or when such meeting convenes; or (2) signs a written waiver of notice or a written consent to holding the meeting or an approval of the minutes of the meeting, either before or after the meeting; and (3) such written consents or approvals are filed with the records of the meeting.

6.4 Quorum.

A quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Association shall be one or more Designated Voting Representatives from a majority of Member Boards. A quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of a Region shall be one or more Designated Voting Representatives from a majority of the Member Boards of such Region. In the absence of a quorum at an Annual Meeting, Regional Meeting or a special meeting, the majority of the Member Boards represented at such meeting may adjourn the meeting to a stated time and place without further notice.

6.5 Advisory Vote on Matters Related to Member Boards' Regulatory Responsibilities.

Any issue being deliberated by the Board of Directors or any committee, that is determined by the Board of Directors to have a material impact on the regulatory responsibilities of the Member Boards, shall be submitted to the Member Boards for their advisory vote. Such advisory vote should ordinarily be taken at an Annual Meeting. However, if the timing of an issue will not allow the advisory vote to be conducted at an Annual Meeting, the Chair may call a special meeting.

6.6 Voting.

6.6.1 Each Member Board shall be entitled to only one vote on any matter brought before the Association, and each Member Board in the Region shall be entitled to only one vote on any matter brought before any Regional Meeting, which vote shall be cast on behalf of such Member Board by its Designated Voting Representative.

6.6.2 The Presiding Officer of a Member Board, if present, shall be presumed to be the Designated Voting Representative. If the Presiding Officer is unable or unwilling to serve, the Member Board may authorize another Delegate, Associate or Executive Director from that State to serve as its Voting Representative. The Member Board may authorize successive alternate Voting Representatives to ensure that the Member Board's one vote may be cast. The authorization shall be in writing (including email) and may be issued by the Member Board's Presiding Officer or the next highest ranking Board Member available prior to or upon registration for the relevant meeting.

6.6.3 Unless a greater vote is required by these bylaws for any action, a majority vote of all Member Boards shall be required to pass any motion or resolution of the Association.

6.7 Ballot Voting.

6.7.1 The Board of Directors, or a majority of the Member Boards of the Association present at any duly called meeting of the Association at which a quorum is present, may direct that the Chair of the Association submit any action to all Member Boards for their consent by mail, e-mail or facsimile, except that the election of

the Vice Chair, Directors and members and alternates of the Nominating Committee may not be done by written consent, except in filling an interim vacancy of the Vice Chair.

6.7.2 The Member Boards will have 45 days to return their ballots.

6.7.3 Any action taken or approved in such a ballot by two-thirds of the Member Boards voting shall be a resolution of the Member Boards of the Association provided that the number of Member Boards approving such action shall constitute a majority of the Member Boards of the Association.

6.8 Rules of Order.

The rules of parliamentary procedure contained in the latest edition of *Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised*, shall govern all meetings of the Association, except as may be otherwise provided in these bylaws.

Article VII - Nominations and Elections

7.1 Nominating Committee Composition and Election.

The membership of the Nominating Committee shall consist of the Past Chair, who shall serve as Chair of the Nominating Committee, and one member from each Region elected as provided herein.

7.1.1 A Delegate or Associate is eligible for election to the Nominating Committee.

7.1.2 With the exception of the Past Chair, no member of the Nominating Committee may serve concurrently as a member of the Board of Directors and the Nominating Committee, and no member may be eligible for election to the Board of Directors through the entirety of his or her elected term on the Nominating Committee and through the adjournment of the next following Annual Meeting. For purposes of this subsection, an alternate of the Nominating Committee is not a member of the Committee unless and until he or she assumes office by replacing a member at one or more meetings for the purpose of deliberating upon or voting for nominees.

7.1.3 If the Past Chair cannot serve, or declines to serve, as Chair of the Nominating Committee, the Board of Directors shall appoint another Delegate or Associate to serve as Nominating Committee Chair so long as the person is ineligible to serve on the Board of Directors for the year following his or her service on the Nominating Committee.

7.1.4 Nominating Committee members shall be elected for two-year terms, and may serve two complete terms in succession plus any unexpired terms. The term begins immediately following the Business Session of the Annual Meeting. The terms of the Nominating Committee members shall be staggered so that half of the Regions hold elections each year.

7.1.5 The election of members and alternates of the Nominating Committee shall require a majority vote of the Member Boards in the Region represented at the Regional Meeting, provided a quorum is met.

7.1.6 At the Regional Meeting, each Region whose Nominating Committee member's term is expiring at the current year's Annual Meeting shall elect a member and an alternate of the Nominating Committee to represent its Region.

7.1.7 Each member and alternate must have (i) served at least two years on a state board of accountancy, (ii) attended at least one NASBA Regional Meeting and one NASBA Annual Meeting and (iii) served on a NASBA committee, board (e.g., Exam Review Board or International Qualifications Appraisal Board; “board” is not referring to member of Board of Directors) or task force.

7.1.8 If a Region’s member and alternate are both unable to serve and the Nominating Committee will hold a meeting for the purpose of making nominations prior to that Region’s next NASBA Regional Meeting, then an ad hoc committee consisting of one state board member from each Member Board in that Region shall meet to elect a member and alternate to serve for the unexpired terms of the former member and former alternate. Such meeting may be held telephonically.

7.1.9 If a Region fails to elect a member or an alternate as provided above, the Board of Directors shall appoint a member or an alternate to represent that Region on the Nominating Committee.

7.1.10 In the event of a deadlocked vote in a Region’s election of its member or alternate on the Nominating Committee, the Regional Director shall convene an ad hoc meeting pursuant to Section 7.1.8 to elect the Region’s member or alternate on the Nominating Committee. If the election pursuant to Section 7.1.8 has not been completed within thirty (30) days after the Annual Regional Meeting, the Region’s Nominating Committee member and/or alternate shall be appointed by the Board of Directors pursuant to Section 7.1.9.

7.2 Responsibilities of Nominating Committee.

7.2.1 Obligation to Attend Nominating Committee Meetings in Person.

7.2.1.1 In view of the importance of each Region being represented in person at meetings of the Nominating Committee when the Committee is meeting for the purpose of deliberating upon or voting for nominees, the member or alternate must be in attendance at such meetings in order to participate and vote. The alternate shall reserve the Nominating Committee meeting dates so he or she can attend a meeting on short notice if the member cannot attend. In the event the member cannot attend the meeting, it shall be the responsibility of the member to notify the Nominating Committee Chair and the Region’s alternate as soon as possible so the alternate can attend the meeting.

7.2.1.2 Members of the Nominating Committee who miss more than one meeting (for the purpose of deliberating upon or voting for nominees) during their term may not stand for re-election.

7.2.1.3 The responsibility of the alternate is to serve in person in the event the member cannot attend the meeting or is no longer a Delegate or Associate.

7.2.2 Annual Nominations.

Each year, the Nominating Committee will establish and communicate to the Member Boards, a nominating schedule including any deadlines for the submission of names of candidates seeking to be nominated for any of the offices to be elected at the Annual Meeting. Pursuant to that schedule, the Nominating Committee shall nominate annually one qualified candidate for Vice Chair, three candidates for Directors-at-Large for those whose terms are expiring at the Annual Meeting, and one candidate for Regional Director from each Region. If the Vice Chair cannot serve as Chair, then the Committee also shall nominate a candidate for Chair. The report of the Nominating Committee shall be submitted to the Chair and presented in accordance with the provisions of these bylaws.

7.2.3 Special Nomination for Vacancy of Vice Chair Position.

In the event of a vacancy in the Vice Chair position as described in Section 4.6.2, the Nominating Committee Chair shall promptly call a meeting of the Nominating Committee to nominate a candidate for Vice Chair. If administratively possible, the Vice Chair nominee will be presented with the other nominees for consideration at the Annual Meeting. If the timing is such that a vote cannot occur at the Annual Meeting, written ballots containing the name of the proposed candidate shall be sent promptly to the Presiding Officers of all Member Boards for voting as set forth in Section 6.7.

Section 7.2.4 Amendment of the Nominating Committee Report

The Nominating Committee in its sole discretion may reconsider and rescind said nomination with or without cause and nominate a different candidate. If said action would occur after the Nominating Committee's Report issued pursuant to Section 7.3.1 has been distributed with the notice of Annual Meeting as required in Section 7.3.2, then the Chair of the Nominating Committee may convene an emergency meeting of the Nominating Committee for the sole purpose of reconsidering, rescinding and replacing a Nominee for cause. Notice of this meeting will state that the meeting is being called to consider rescission of one or more nominations. Notwithstanding Section 7.2.1, for purposes of that meeting and that meeting only, one or more members or alternates of the Nominating Committee can participate without being physically present so long as a quorum is physically present. If the Nominating Committee votes to amend its Report, the Amended Nominating Committee Report shall be distributed to the Member Boards as soon as practicable. If the distribution of the Amended Report cannot occur more than 30 days prior to the annual meeting, then upon the written request of 5 or more Member Boards or upon the recommendation of the Nominating Committee, the election regarding any new nominee may be conducted in the same manner as provided in Section 7.2.3.

7.3 Nominations and Election Process.

7.3.1 At least 60 days preceding the date of the Annual Meeting of the Association, the Nominating Committee shall deliver to the Chair a report which shall include its Annual Nominations as described in Section 7.2.2.

7.3.2 The report shall be included with the notice of the Annual Meeting as described in Section 6.3, and shall be presented by the Nominating Committee during the Business Session at the Annual Meeting.

7.3.3 Nominations for any elected position, including a vacancy in the office of Vice Chair, may also be made by at least five Member Boards, if filed with the Chair at least 30 days prior to the Annual Meeting (or the due date set pursuant to Section 7.2.3 and Section 6.7 for the mail ballots for Vice Chair in the event of a vacancy).

7.3.4 No nominations from the floor or otherwise will be recognized.

7.3.5 A majority vote of the Member Boards represented during the Business Session at the Annual Meeting (or by mail ballots for Vice Chair) shall constitute an election, provided a quorum is met.

ARTICLE VIII – Committees, Task Forces and Boards

8.1 Standing Committees.

The standing committees of the Association shall include the Executive Committee, the Nominating Committee, the Administration and Finance Committee, the Audit Committee, the CPA Examination Review

Board and the Executive Directors Committee. Unless otherwise provided in these bylaws, the members and chairs of the standing and other committees or task forces are appointed by the Chair.

8.2 Executive Committee.

There shall be an Executive Committee composed of the Past Chair, the Chair, the Vice Chair, the Secretary and the Treasurer. The President shall serve as an *ex officio* non-voting member of the Executive Committee. The Executive Committee shall act for the Board of Directors between meetings of the Board. The Executive Committee (without the President) shall constitute the Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee shall annually evaluate the performance and the compensation of the President. All actions taken by the Executive Committee and the Compensation Committee shall be presented to the Board of Directors for ratification at its next meeting.

8.3 Nominating Committee.

The election and duties of the Nominating Committee are described in Article VII. The Nominating Committee is not a committee of the Board of Directors.

8.4 Administration and Finance Committee.

The Administration and Finance Committee shall oversee and monitor the fiscal operations of the Association. The Treasurer shall serve as Chair of the Administration and Finance Committee.

8.5 Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee shall oversee the Association's annual financial statement audit and internal controls, and shall recommend to the Board of Directors the firm to perform the audit. The Audit Committee shall receive the annual audited financial statements and the auditor's report thereon, consider the items of internal accounting control that arise from the audit process, and make a recommendation regarding the annual audited financial statements and the auditor's report thereon, to the Board of Directors.

8.6 CPA Examination Review Board.

8.6.1 The CPA Examination Review Board ("ERB") shall: review, evaluate and report on the appropriateness of the policies and procedures utilized in the preparation, grading and administration of the Uniform CPA Examination and other examinations in general use by boards of accountancy for the licensing of certified public accountants; examine such records, and make such observations, inspections and inquiries as it deems necessary; and report annually to the boards of accountancy.

8.6.2 The Chair of the ERB may serve a two year term. During the first year of that term, the immediate past chair of the ERB will serve as Past Chair of the ERB. By the end of the first year of the ERB Chair's term, the Chair of the Board of Directors, subject to the approval of the Board of Directors, shall appoint a Vice Chair of ERB who will serve in the second year to the ERB Chair's term. A vacancy in the office of the Chair of the ERB shall be filled by the Vice Chair of the ERB. The Chair of the Board of Directors shall, subject to the approval of the Board of Directors, also appoint other members of the ERB. The Board by Resolution may establish the minimum number of ERB members, terms of service and a method to stagger the terms.

8.7 Other Committees and Task Forces.

The Chair or the Board of Directors may appoint such other Committees and Task Forces as they deem desirable. Membership on such Committees and Task Forces may include, in addition to Delegates and Associates, executive directors and other persons with special expertise. Task Forces within a Committee **may** be appointed by the Committee Chair, provided the Task Force members have already been appointed by the NASBA Chair to the Committee.

8.8 Executive Directors Committee.

There shall be an Executive Directors Committee. Its members shall be appointed by the NASBA Chair from the executive directors (or the highest ranking staff member if another title is used by a State Board). The Executive Directors Committee shall operate pursuant to a Mission Statement developed by the Committee and approved by the Board of Directors. The Chair of the Executive Directors Committee shall serve as liaison to and as an *ex officio* non-voting member of the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE IX - Finances

9.1 Fiscal Year.

The fiscal year of the Association shall be from August 1 of one year to July 31 of the next succeeding year.

9.2 Dues.

The dues for each Member Board and for each Associate shall be determined by the Board of Directors and approved by the Member Boards at a regular Annual Meeting of the Association. The Board of Directors may waive, alter or amend unpaid dues of Member Boards. The dues of each Member Board shall be based on the number of persons regulated by that Member Board.

9.3 Other Fees.

The Board of Directors may establish such other fees for publications, programs and services as it shall deem appropriate, provided that no such fees or special assessments shall be levied if such fees or assessments impair the status of the Association under Section 501(c) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the corresponding provision of any successor law.

9.4 Audit.

The Board of Directors shall, for each fiscal year, appoint a licensed independent public accountant or licensed independent public accountants to express an opinion on the financial statements of the Association. The financial statements of the Association and the report of the auditor or auditors for each fiscal year shall be published for the information of the membership.

9.5 Contracts.

The Board of Directors may authorize the President, any Officer or Officers, agent or agents of the Association, to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name and on behalf of the Association and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.

9.6 Checks, Drafts, etc.

All checks, drafts or other orders for the payment of money, notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the Association shall be signed by such Officer or Officers, agent or agents of the Association and in such manner as shall from time to time be determined by the Board of Directors.

9.7 Indemnification.

The Association shall, to the fullest extent permitted under Delaware law, defend and/or indemnify any and all of its Directors or Officers or former Directors or Officers against expenses actually and reasonably incurred by them in connection with the defense of any action, suit or proceeding in which they or any of them are made parties, or a party, by reason of being or having been a Director or Officer of the Association.

9.8 Insurance.

The Association shall have the power to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was an Officer, Director, President, committee member, or is serving at the request of the Association, against any liability incurred by such person in any such capacity, or arising out of that person's status as such, whether or not the Association would have the power to indemnify that person against such liability under this Article.

9.9 Dissolution.

The Association shall use its funds only to accomplish the purposes specified in these bylaws and no part of said funds shall inure, or be distributed, to the Member Boards of the Association. On dissolution of the Association, any funds remaining shall be distributed to one or more regularly organized and qualified charitable, education, scientific or philanthropic organizations to be selected by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE X – Amendments

Any of these bylaws may be altered, amended or repealed, and new bylaws may be adopted by a two-thirds vote of Member Boards represented at any regular or special meeting by one or more Designated Voting Representatives, provided a quorum is present, and provided that the Member Boards approving such an amendment constitute a majority of the Member Boards of the Association. Proposed amendments to these Bylaws must be presented in writing to the Chair at least 60 days before the meeting at which they are to be voted upon; however, this requirement may be waived by the Chair or by a three-fourths vote of Member Boards represented at any regular or special meeting. Any amendments to these bylaws shall become effective on the first day following the Annual Business Meeting unless another day is specified.